IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

AMFED COMPANIES, LLC AND AMERICAN FEDERATED INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANTS

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-01422

JENNIFER BROWN JORDAN

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Amfed Companies, LLC
- 2. American Federated Insurance Company
- 3. Jennifer Brown Jordan
- 4. Justin Matthew Brown (a minor)
- 5. Laura Elizabeth Brown (a minor)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Amfed's nonpayment of the lump sum award from the entry of the order on June 5, 2001, until Amfed received a copy of the Order on April 16, 2003, does not constitute bad faith.
- 2. Amfed's nonpayment of the of the lump sum award from April 16, 2003 until June 25, 2003, does not constitute bad faith.
- 3. Amfed's nonpayment of the twenty percent (20%) penalty on the lump sum award from the entry of the order on June 5, 2001, until it was paid on August 13, 2003, does not constitute bad faith.
- 4. Amfed's under payment of the children's benefits from May 17, 2001 until May 16, 2003, was the result of a clerical error and does not constitute bad faith.
- 5. Amfed's nonpayment of the deficiency in the children's biweekly benefits from the discovery of the error on May 16, 2003, until payment on June 25, 2003, does not constitute bad faith.
- 6. Amfed's termination of the widow's biweekly benefit upon notice of her remarriage was in accordance with the Workers' Compensation Act and did not constitute bad faith.
- 7. Amfed's attorney was an independent contractor and any delay in payment of benefits resulting from his acts or omissions cannot be imputed to Amfed as evidence of bad faith.
- 8. Amfed's reliance on their attorney to notify Jordan or her attorney that the lump sum award had been confirmed and would be paid was reasonable under the circumstances and does not constitute bad faith.
- 9. The trial court erred in denying Amfed's pretrial motion for summary judgment and supplemental motion for summary judgment on the issue of bad faith.
- 10. The trial court erred in denying Amfed's motion for a directed verdict at the conclusion of Jordan's case in chief.
- 11. The trial court erred in refusing to give the instruction submitted as D-1 which peremptorily instructed the jury to find for Amfed on all issues.
- 12. The trial court erred in refusing to give the jury instructions submitted as D-2, D-3, D-4, D-5 and D-6 which peremptorily instructed the jury to find for Amfed on the issues of the delay in paying the lump sum award, the underpayment of children's benefits, and the termination of the widows biweekly benefits on remarriage.
- 13. The trial court erred in giving peremptory instructions to the jury to return a verdict for Jordan awarding the contractual damages which had been paid prior to the trial.

- 14. The trial court erred in submitting Jordan's extra-contractual claim for emotional distress to the jury over Amfed's objection.
- 15. The trial court erred in giving instructions P-1, P-2, P-3, P-6, P-8 and P-12, in the compensatory phase of the trial over Amfed's objections.
- 16. The trial court erred in submitting the issue of punitive damages to the jury over Amfed's objection.
- 17. The trial court erred in orally instructing the jury on the issue of punitive damages.
- 18. The trial court erred in giving instructions P-15, P-21 and P-23 on the issue punitive damages over Amfed's objections.
- 19. The trial court erred in refusing to give instructions D-10, D-11, D-12, D-13 and D-16 offered by Amfed on the issue of punitive damages.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Statement of the Facts

This is a claim for bad faith claims handling in the administration of a workers' compensation claim for death benefits. Plaintiff sought recovery of contractual, extra-contractual and punitive damages on allegations that the Defendants delayed payment of workers' compensation benefits and penalties without an arguable basis or justifiable reason and with either malice or a reckless indifference to Plaintiff's rights.

The claim arises from the May 4, 2001, death of James H. Brown, III. He was electrocuted in a work-related accident while he was employed by A&B Electric Company.¹ American Federated Insurance Company was the workers' compensation carrier for A&B Electric. Amfed Companies, LLC, was the third party administrator responsible for adjusting the claim.²

A. May 11, 2001, AmFed's First Notice of Claim

On May 11, 2001, the claim was reported to AmFed Companies, LLC. (T.144) Neither American Federated Insurance Company, nor Amfed Companies, LLC had notice of Brown's May 4, 2001 injury until May 11, 2001. (T.144)

Stacy Stuart was assigned to adjust the claim. (T.144) Stuart immediately conducted a thorough investigation of the claim, including making requests for medical, death, marriage and birth records necessary to the proper investigation of the claim and identification of dependents entitled to receive death benefits under the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Act. (T.145-146) Stuart contacted Mr. Brown's surviving spouse, Jennifer Brown, and explained her right to

¹ A&B Electric will be referred to as the "Employer in this brief.

² Defendants Amfed Companies, LLC and American Federated Insurance Company will be referred to collectively as "Amfed" in this brief, unless otherwise noted.

benefits under the Workers' Compensation Act.³ (T.145) Stuart promptly determined that benefits were owed to the widow and dependant children and requested wage information from the employer so she could calculate Mr. Brown's average weekly wage and determine the weekly benefit amount owed. (T.145) While speaking with Ms. Brown she realized the widow and small children were in need of the payment as soon as possible and therefore she estimated the benefit payment amounts in order to get the checks out quickly. (T.136) On May 17, 2001, Stuart mailed the first benefit payment to Ms. Brown. (T.146) On May 21, 2001, Stuart filed a MWCC Form B-18, Supplemental Agreement as to Compensation, with the Commission reflecting the commencement of weekly benefits payable to Jennifer Brown and Mr. Brown's dependent children, Justin Matthew Brown, Laura Elizabeth Brown, and James H. Brown, IV. (T.147, Ex. P-2,D-8)

On May 25, 2001, Stuart requested a death benefits calculation from the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission statistician. (T.148, Ex. P-3, D-10) She requested the calculation in order to verify that her calculations were correct, and that she was paying the correct weekly rate. (T. 129,148,153) On May 30, 2001, the MWCC issued a computation confirming Stuart's calculations. (Ex. P-4, D-11)

Stuart set up the claim in AmFed's deferred payment system to automatically issue biweekly checks. (T.148) Unknown to Stuart, she set up the payment schedule so that checks for weekly benefits were sent out every two weeks. (T.148-149) Stuart did not realize that she did not check the appropriate box to pay two weeks of benefits as was customary. (T.149) Rather than issuing checks for \$340.78, the payments were set up to issue checks for \$170.39. (T.149) Timely payments continued to Ms. Brown and the children for almost two years. (T.90) Stuart

³ Plaintiff, Jennifer Brown Jordan, is referred to in this brief as "Ms. Brown" and "Ms. Jordan." She changed her name to Jordan on August 10, 2002, when she remarried.

was not aware this clerical mistake had been made until later, during the investigation regarding the Lump Sum Order. (T.149, 153)

On June 5, 2001, unknown to AmFed, Ms. Brown went to the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission and filed an Application for Lump Sum Payment, MWCC Form B-19. (T.86, Ex.P-5) On June 5, 2001, the MWCC issued to Ms. Brown an Order Authorizing Lump Sum Payment. (Ex.P-6) AmFed never knew about the Order until April 11, 2003. (T.187) So weekly payments continued to the widow and children until approximately April 11, 2003. (T.150) AmFed had no knowledge that Jordan had requested the lump sum. (T.111) Jordan never sent a copy of the Order to AmFed and never contacted AmFed during this time to ask why she did not receive her lump sum payment. (T.111) The Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission did not send a copy of the Order to AmFed. (T.151)

Following her husband's death in 2001, Jordan hired attorney, Glenn White, to represent her and her children in a third party wrongful death action. (T.112) In July 2002, the employer and carrier hired attorney, T.G. Bolen, to pursue their subrogation interest in the third party suit. (T.263-265, Ex.D-15) Attorney Bolen would not have any direct involvement in the workers' compensation case until April 2003, approximately nine months later. (T.267)

In February 2002, Jordan spoke with AmFed adjuster, Daron Perkins, who called to inquire about the well being of her children.⁴ (T.113-114) She did not mention the Lump Sum Order to him and reported that she did not have any problems. (T.114) Immediately after this contact, on February 7, 2002, attorney White informed Perkins by letter that he was representing the widow and Mr. Brown's estate in any claims made due to the fact of Mr. Brown's death. (Ex.D-14) Therefore direct contact between Jordan and AmFed ceased until April 11, 2003.

⁴ At the time of this contact, adjuster, Daron Perkins, had replaced Stacy Stuart. Neither Stuart nor Perkins were aware that Jordan was represented by counsel prior to this call.

During various conversations between attorney White and attorney Bolen regarding the third party lawsuit and subrogation neither the existence nor the nonpayment of the lump sum award was ever mentioned. (Ex. D.16, D-17)

B. April 11, 2003, AmFed's First Knowledge of the Lump Sum Award and May 16, 2003, AmFed's First Knowledge of Mistake in Bi-weekly Payments

On April 11, 2003, attorney White informed Jordan that the wrongful death suit was futile and should be dismissed. (T.94) Later that same day Jordan contacted AmFed adjuster, Nita Cox, to inquire why she had not received her lump sum payment.⁵ (T.112) This was AmFed's first notice of the existence of the Lump Sum Order. (T.187) Cox told Jordan she would look into the matter and call her back. (T.115) Cox contacted her attorney, T.G. Bolen, to find out if he had any knowledge of the Lump Sum Order. (T.188-189) Bolen did not have a copy of the Order in his file, and advised he would go to the Workers' Compensation Commission and review the file. (T.192, 269)

During the April 11, 2003, conversation Jordan informed Cox that on August 10, 2002, she married Jay Jordan. (T.187) The Workers' Compensation Act provides that widow's benefits are terminated when she remarries.⁶ So AmFed terminated Jordan's weekly benefit payments upon notification that she had remarried. (T.190)

On April 14, 2003, Jordan contacted Cox again and Cox advised she had not been able to locate a copy of the Order, but would continue to investigate it. (T.116, 191)

On April 16, 2003, Bolen wrote to Cox advising he had been to the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission and located the Order in the Commission file and enclosed a copy of

⁵ At the time of this contact, adjuster, Nita Cox, had replace Daron Perkins.

⁶ See Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-25.

the Order. (Ex.D-19) Cox was out of the office on her honeymoon the week Bolen's letter was received. (T.213) Cox returned to the office on April 30, 2003, and discussed the Order with her supervisor, Bob Blacklidge. (T.214-215) That same day, April 30, 2003, Cox asked Bolen to obtain a calculation from the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission so Amfed could pay the benefits. (T.214) On May 5, 2003, Cox followed up with Bolen and he advised he was preparing a letter to the Commission. (T.215-216) Cox provided the necessary payment information for him to submit with the request. (T.216) On May 12, 2003, Cox again followed up with Bolen concerning the status. (T.217)

On May 16, 2003, Bolen advised Cox that he had a letter drafted to the Commission concerning the lump sum calculation, but wanted to discuss it with her before he sent it. (T.217) He explained that when he looked at the figures the second time, it appeared the widow and children had both been paid half the benefits they were owed, the bi-weekly payments had been issued in the amount of weekly payments. (T.218, Ex.D-21) Bolen discussed the matter with Cox and made a note in his file to obtain a calculation of benefits owed to the children in addition to those owed to Jordan. (Ex.D-20)

C. May 27, 2003, AmFed's Letter to the MWCC Concerning Payment of the Lump Sum Award and Mistake in Bi-weekly Payments

On May 27, 2003, Bolen wrote to Ben Barrett Smith, MWCC Chairman, advising that AmFed was not aware of the Lump Sum Order until Jordan's recent telephone call. (Ex.D-21) He advised that AmFed was ready and willing to forward the appropriate lump sum amount immediately upon receipt of the calculation. (Ex.D-21) This correspondence also advised that AmFed had discovered the mistake with the payment amounts and requested a calculation of additional benefits owed to James H. Brown, IV, Laura Elizabeth Brown, and Justin Matthew Brown. (Ex.D-21) Shortly after her conversation with Nita Cox on April 14, 2003, attorney White referred Jordan to Attorney William H. Jones to discuss non payment of the lump sum award. (T.101) Although Jordan had discussed the matter with attorney Jones in April, she did not actually employ him to represent her until May 20, 2003. On May 20, 2003, Jordan hired attorney William H. Jones. Had Mr. Jones inquired with either Amfed or Bolen, he would have discovered Amfed's May 27, 2003, letter to the MWCC concerning payment of the Lump Sum Order. (T.101-102) On May 29, 2003, attorney Jones filed this bad faith lawsuit on Jordan's behalf. (R.3-12)

D. May 30, 2003, Calculation by the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission

On May 29, 2003, the MWCC issued a calculation of benefits, with interest, owed to Jennifer Brown Jordan, Justin M. Brown, Laura E. Brown, and James H. Brown, IV. (Ex.D-22) The calculation was mailed to Bolen with a letter from the MWCC dated May 30, 2003. (Ex.D-23) The calculation showed a total payment owed to Jordan for the lump sum award of \$71,795.41 and the total payable to each of the children for the underpayment of the biweekly benefits of \$3,493.06. (Ex. D-22) The calculation included interest on the amounts due but did not include a penalty. (Ex. D-22).

On June 9, 2003, Cox contacted Bolen regarding the status of the calculation. (T.224-225) On June 10, 2003, the calculations were faxed to Amfed. On June 26, 2003, Bolen sent attorney Jones the following: (a) a check for \$71,795.41 payable to Jordan for the lump sum award; (b) a check for \$3,493.06 payable to Jordan as guardian of Justin; and (c) a check for \$3,493.06 payable to Jordan as guardian of Laura. (Ex.D-25) The letter further informed Jones that the checks payable to Jordan for the children were to cover the under payment resulting from the error in entering the biweekly payment amounts. (Ex.D- 25) Prior to receiving this letter, neither Jordan, nor her attorneys, were aware of the under payment and had not made a claim for it. (T.119-120)

E. Payment of the Penalty

On July 7, 2003, attorney Jones wrote to Bolen inquiring as to whether Jordan and the children were entitled to a ten percent (10%) penalty for late payment under the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-37(5). (Ex. D-26) On July 21, 2003, and August 1, 2003, Jones wrote to Bolen again requesting payment of the penalty. (Ex.P-16, P-17) On August 4, 2003, Bolen responded to Jones that he was trying to locate an MWCC order to see if penalties were allowed. (Ex.D-28) Bolen pointed out that the Commission's calculation of benefits dated May 29, 2003 did not include a penalty, casting doubt on whether one was due. (Ex. D-28)

On August 8, 2003, Bolen wrote to Jones stating that after he informed Amfed concerning the penalty, Amfed agreed to pay the penalty but that the check had to be reissued because of an error in the payee name. (Ex. D-29). By letter dated August 13, 2003, Bolen forwarded to Jones a check for \$17,808.35 for payment of the penalty and pointed out to Jones that the twenty percent (20%) penalty provision of Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-37(6) applied rather than the ten percent (10%) penalty under subparagraph (5), which Jones had asserted was applicable. (Ex. D-30)

II. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Jones Circuit Court

On May 29, 2003, attorney Jones filed this bad faith lawsuit on Jordan's behalf. (R.3-12) On October 24, 2003, attorney Jones filed an Amended Complaint asserting claims on behalf of Justin Matthew Brown and Laura Elizabeth Brown alleging bad faith based on the mistake in the amount of benefits weekly paid to them between May 4, 2001 and August 8, 2003. (R.33-47)⁷

⁷ On July 27, 2004, Plaintiffs filed a Second Amended Complaint. This Complaint did not add any additional claims, but joined the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Assigned Risk Plan as a Defendant. The Plan was dismissed prior to trial. Defendant, A&B Electric of Hattiesburg, the Employer, was also dismissed prior to trial. (R.298-299)

On June 15, 2004, AmFed filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on all issues. (R.73, 271) In essence, the motion asserted that the undisputed facts did not establish a basis for Jordan's claim that the failure to pay benefits or penalties was the result of any willful, intentional or malicious act by Amfed and therefore Amfed was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. (R.73, 271) On March 23, 2005, the Jones Circuit Court entered an Order granting the motions as to A & B Electric and the Assigned Risk Plan and dismissing them from the case; however, the Court denied the Motion as to Amfed Companies, LLC and American Federated Insurance Company. (R. 298)

On March 5, 2007, a jury trial began in the Jones County Circuit Court before Honorable Billy Joe Landrum. The trial was bifurcated into two phases; compensatory damages and punitive damages. At the close of evidence on the compensatory phase, AmFed moved for a directed verdict on the issue of any act of bad faith prior to May 16, 2003. (R.315) The mistake as to the weekly payment amounts was due to Stacy Stuart's clerical error and AmFed was not aware the mistake had been made until May 16, 2003. Therefore, Amfed could not have acted in bad faith prior to May 16, 2003. (R.315) Amfed next moved for a directed verdict on the issue of knowledge of the Lump Sum Order prior to April 16, 2003. (R.315-318) Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission Secretary, Joann McDonald, testified that she could not testify under oath that the Order had been stamped, sealed, and delivered to Amfed and Jordan had not presented any testimony to prove that Amfed had received the Order. (R.316) Jordan did not present proof that Amfed had knowledge of the Order prior to April 16, 2003, therefore Amfed could not have acted in bad faith prior to April 16, 2003. (R.318) Next, Amfed moved for a directed verdict on the issue of delay of payment between May 16, 2003 and June 25, 2003, during which time Amfed was conducting its investigation and obtaining a calculation of benefits owed. (T.319) Amfed was entitled to conduct a reasonable investigation. During the

10

investigation and requesting of the calculation on the Lump Sum Order, Amfed discovered the mistake in the weekly payments, requested a calculation by letter dated May 27, 2003, and payment was made on June 25, 2003. The time it took Amfed to make the payment was reasonable and justified under the circumstances. Therefore Amfed could not have acted in bad faith during this time period. (R.320) Finally, Amfed moved for a peremptory instruction on the issue of intentional infliction of emotional distress. (R.321) Jordan failed to present any evidence of injury; and did not produce any medical records, bills, or prescriptions. (R.321) Jordan did not put on any proof of malicious, intentional, willful, wanton, grossly careless indifference or reckless acts by Amfed as a basis of her claim for emotional distress. (R.322) The Court overruled all of Amfed's motions, allowing all Jordan's claims to proceed to the Jury. (R.313-331)

At the conclusion of the compensatory phase, the Jury returned a verdict awarding Jordan \$130,568.00 as contractual and extra contractual damages, which included benefits and penalties paid by Amfed some four years prior to the trial. (R.443)

After the verdict was received and read, Jordan moved to submit the issue of punitive damages to the Jury. Over Amfed's objection, the motion was granted, and the trial proceeded into the punitive damages phase. No further evidence was introduced by either party. (T.391-414) Plaintiff did not offer any evidence of Amfed's alleged egregious behavior. (T.391-414) After receiving the instructions and hearing arguments of counsel, the Jury returned a punitive damages verdict for Jordan in the amount of \$200,000.00. (R.444)

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