IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

AMFED COMPANIES, LLC AND AMERICAN FEDERATED INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANTS

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-01422

JENNIFER BROWN JORDAN

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JONES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

PREPARED AND SUBMITTED BY:

WILLIAM H. JONES, ESQ. ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE P.O. BOX 282/849 HWY 11 PETAL, MISSISSIPPI 39465 TELEPHONE:601-545-8324 MS BAR NO

έ.

:

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

AMFED COMPANIES, LLC AND AMERICAN FEDERATED INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANTS

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-01422

JENNIFER BROWN JORDAN

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A. The Law of Bad Faith and Bad Faith Delay

Appellant's appropriately argue that the burden rests with the Plaintiff seeking to establish a claim for an intentional tort to prove that (1) the carrier denied *or delayed* the payment of a compensable claim without a legitimate or arguable reason; and (2) the denial *or delay* of payment constitutes a willful, intentional malicious wrong or is a reckless and wanton disregard for the rights of the claimant. *Southern Farm Bureau Casualty Ins. Co. v. Holland* 469 So. 2d 55, 58-59(Miss. 1989). (Appellant's Brief Pg. 19)

This case does not center around the lone clerical error of the initial adjuster entering

the wrong weekly benefit amount payable to the widow and surviving children. It is the subsequent handling of the claim by the adjuster and Amfed attorney that resulted in cumulative, reckless actions illustrating a disregard for the rights of the widow and the minor children. This included the failure to tell Jennifer that Amfed had wrongfully terminated her benefits, and had concluded she was entitled to them for a period of two and a half months while the adjuster took a marriage holiday, and the attorney took a vacation. It is quite reasonable why the jury in this matter considered the activities of Amfed and its attorney to be much more than simple negligence, but in utter disregard, insult, and abuse of the contractual rights of Jennifer Jordan and her children, and the obligations of Amfed to pay promptly amounts it knew to be due.

Plaintiff has shown that (1) a contract of Workers' Compensation Insurance existed; (2) that the carrier failed to tender Plaintiff widows benefits under the June 5, 2001 lump sum order of the MWCC; and (3) refused to correct <u>promptly</u> the nonpayment of benefits owed to the widow, and the children after discovering an additional error and after their attorney informed them that payment must be made.

On April 14, 2003, Amfed knew that Jennifer and her family were financially distressed; that Jennifer's husband had lost his job and was having to care for a sick child; that Jennifer was wrongfully told by the same adjuster that her benefits were being terminated, she was entitled to nothing further because of her remarriage even though she knew that Jennifer had a lump sum award order that had remained unpaid for over two years. Amfed later discovered that the minor children and Jennifer had been underpaid by

one-half of the weekly payments owed to them for a period of two years.

On July 7, July 21, and August 1, 2003, demand was made upon Amfed for the statutory penalty owed to Jennifer for those amounts remaining unpaid under the MWCC Lump Sum Order. Payment had not been made within fourteen (14) days from the date the Defendants knew that order existed but continued to hold the statutory penalty, without any arguable reason and did not pay it until a second litigation was threatened.

Every contract of insurance contains an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. *UHS Qualicare, Inc. v. Gulf Coast Community Hospital, Inc.,* 525 So. 2d 746 (Miss. 1987). This duty of good faith implies that neither party will do anything which will injure the right of the other to receive the *benefit* of the agreement. In this case, the benefit is also a statutory one. A Workers' Compensation insurer is liable to its insured under the implied covenant of good faith by law, and Mississippi Code Annotated §71-3-25; §71-3-37.

Importantly, the purpose of Workers' Compensation Act is to facilitate payment of compensation <u>without delay</u>, and without unnecessary costs. *HC Moody and Sons v. Dedaux* (Miss. 1955) 79 So.2d 255. An insurance company has exclusive control over evaluation, <u>processing</u> and denial of claims. For these reasons a duty is imposed that "[an] indemnity company is held to that degree of care and diligence which a man of ordinary care and prudence would exercise in the management of his own business." *Andrew Jackson Life Ins. Co.v. Williams* 566 So. 2d 1172 (Miss. 1990) citing *Arnold v. National County Mut. Fire Ins. Co.* 725 S.W. 2d 165, 167 (Texas 1987).

One of the benefits that flow from the insurance contract is the insured's expectation

that his insurance company will not wrongfully deprive him of the very *security* for which he bargains or expose him to the catastrophe from which he sought protection. Conduct by the insurer which does destroy the security or impair the protection purchased breaches a covenant of good faith and fair dealing implied with the contract. *Rawlings v. Apodaca* 726 P.2d 565, 571 (1986).

In all contracts of insurance, companies and their employees have a duty to use the degree of diligence and care which a reasonably prudent person would ordinarily exercise in the transaction of his own business, <u>including the obligation of providing the proper</u> <u>information concerning the progress of the business and entrusted</u>. *Security Ins. Agents Inc. v. Cox* 299 So.2d, 192, 194 (Miss. 1974)

Under Mississippi Law an adjuster has a duty to investigate a claim with reasonable promptness. Life & Cas. Ins. Co. of Tenn. v. Bristow, 529 So. 2d 620 (Miss. 1988). See also Eichenseer v. Reserve Life Ins. Co., 628 F. Suppl. 1355, 1366 (5th Cir. 1989).

A realistic evaluation of the claim must be made. *Dunn v. State Farm & Casualty Ins. Co.*, 711 F. Sup. 1359 (N.D. Miss. 1987) And then the adjuster should <u>promptly</u> pay claims that are covered. *Murphree v. Fed. Ins. Co.*, 707 So. 2d 523. (Miss. 1997), *Gregory v. Continental Ins. Co.*, 575 So. 2d 534, 541 (Miss. 1990). If the claim would not be allowed, the adjuster should advise the insured of a valid reason why the claim was being denied. *Bankers Life & Cas. Co. v. Crenshaw*, 483 So. 2d 254, 273 (Miss. 1985).

27

Recklessness, with regard to whether or not punitive damages should be allowed, depend upon the extent of a defendants actions, and whether or not they disclose a conscious indifference to the consequences of delaying, as here, payment. T.H. Freeland, III and T.H. Freeland, IV, Bad Faith Litigation: A Practical Analysis, 53 Miss. L. J. 237, 249-50 (1983), as United States District Court Judge Tom Lee stated in Rogers v. Hartford Accid. & Idem. Co., S.D. Miss., Jackson Div. 3:95CV680LN "The usual meaning assigned to 'willful,' 'wanton,' or 'reckless,' according to taste as to the word used, is that the actor has intentionally done an act of an unreasonable character in disregard of a known or obvious <u>risk</u> that was so great as to make it highly <u>probable</u> that harm would follow" (emphasis added). Judge Lee went on to say that "willfulness" was not limited to intentional conduct in the sense of subjective ill will but rather encompasses recklessness as described above. See also Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v McKneely, 2001 WL379996 (Miss. App. 2001), Mississippi Law places a duty of a Workers' Compensation insurance company to promptly and adequately investigate all relevance facts involved in an insured's claim. That bad faith refusal to promptly pay a Workers' Compensation benefit, or claim, has been held to be an intentional tort. Southern Farm Bureau Cas. Ins. v Holland 469 So. 2d, 55, 59 (Miss. 1984) as shown herein, "promptly" and "adequately" are two words which were totally ignored by Amfed.

Here, there was no effort made whatsoever to avoid the consequences and to correct the effect of the underpayments to the widow and surviving children, even though Amfed knew the widows benefits had been improperly terminated, and the children had been underpaid for two years.

There was no effort to even **notify** of the errors **nor** that payment would be forthcoming. Defendants seemed to maintain that nothing could have been paid until the precise to-the-penny amount owed to the widow, and the children, could be calculated by an employee of the Workers' Compensation Commission. And then that payment was delayed, until the adjuster returned from her marriage holiday, and the attorney returned from his vacation.

Here, Amfed cannot honestly assert it had a arguable reason for failing to pay (or notify Jennifer of its error), since its own attorney, Bolin, advised as early as on April 16, 2003, that "... there is in fact an application for Lump Sum, signed and notarized on 5 June, 2001, as well as Commission Order Authorizing Lump Sum Payment on the same day." See Ex. "10", Pg. 028 04-16-2003 letter to Nita Cox, and 05-16-2003 letter to Cox, Ex. "10", Pg. 029, wherein it took the attorney one month to draft a letter to the Commission, that he still had not sent.

B. Infliction of Emotional Distress

In recent years this Court has moved away from existing authority that mental anguish damages or damages for emotional distress or not recoverable in a breach of contract case in the absence of a finding of a separate independent tort. See *Life & Casualty Ins. Co. v. Bristow*, 529 So. 2d 620,624 (Miss. 1998). The Rule was once that to recover damages for emotional distress, Plaintiff had to prove either an intentional or at least grossly negligent tort, or negligence accompanied by physical impact. This Rule has been relaxed in a long series of cases, beginning with First National Bank v. Langley, 314 So. 2d 324, 328 (Miss. 1975), and including Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. Devers, 405 So. 2d 898, 902 (Miss. 1981); Entex, Inc. v. McQuire, 414 So. 2d 437, 444 (Miss. 1982); Royal Oil Co. v. Wells, 500 So. 2d 439, 448 (Miss. 1986); Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Mississippi, Inc., v. Maas, 516 So. 2d 495, 498 (Miss. 1987); Singleton v. Stegall, 580 So.2d 1242, 1247 (Miss. 1991); and most recently Wirtz v. Switzer, 586 So. 2d 775, 784 (Miss. 1991); see also McLoughlin v. O'Brian, (1983) 1 A.C. 410. The upshot of these cases in the present rule is a plaintiff may recover for emotional injury proximately resulting from negligent conduct, provided only that the injury was reasonably foreseeable by the defendant. Andrew Jackson Life Ins. Co. v Williams 566 So. 2d, 1172 (Miss. 1990). These same rules, and principles apply to the handling of Workers' Compensation claims as to other lines of insurance. McCain v Northwestern Nat. Ins. Co. 484 So. 2d, 1001 (Miss. 1986). Workers' Compensation statute contemplates that for payment of premiums, injured workers, and the survivors of those killed on the job should enjoy some piece of mind. That policy of insurance coverage included intangibles such as risk aversion, peace of mind, and certainty that prompt payment of policy benefits would be made. Andrew Jackson Life Ins. Co. v Williams 566 So. 2d, 1172, 1179.

It is entirely foreseeable here that Jennifer Jordan would suffer some anxiety and emotional distress and the defendants own claim file document, and testimony of Jennifer Jordan confirm her difficulties as a result of the loss of her husband, and the exacerbation of those problems by the adjusters hasty decision to inform her she would receive no additional benefits. Although Amfed maintains it was *investigating* Jennifer's claim, the plain facts reveal that Amfed knew within two days of April 14, 2003, that Jennifer's lump sum order did exist. Amfed did not conduct any investigation. Amfed simply delayed any notification of its errors, and that payment would be forthcoming.

- C. Appellee's Issue 1
- Under the facts of this case did Amfed have a legitimate or arguable reason for failing and refusing to notify Jennifer Jordan for a period of two and a half (2¹/₂) months that her claim to lump sum widows benefits under the order of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission dated June 5, 2001, was valid and would be paid.

For over two and a half (2¹/₂) months, Jennifer heard nothing from Amfed regarding her April 14, 2003, telephone to adjuster Cox. The facts plainly show however that Cox, and the Amfed attorney knew on April 16, 2003 (2 days later) that Jennifer was correct. That she indeed had an unpaid lump sum order, that had been unpaid for over two years. The adjuster and the attorney also knew on that day Jennifer had been wrongfully told her benefits would be terminated.(See Ex. "10", adjuster's file activity notes, Pg. 028).

Interestingly, if Amfed intended to make payment to Jennifer, it would have been easy to provide notification to her, or <u>if</u> the reason that Amfed did not notify Jennifer was because she had an attorney, to notify her attorney. Amfed did not even provide a copy of the letter (Ex. "12") to the Workers' Compensation Commission to Jennifer nor her attorney.

Amfed also knew that Jennifer's financial condition was bad, and that she was extremely upset over being wrongfully told that her benefits were being terminated. Amfed could have relieved these pressures by confessing their mistakes and a simple phone call. A whole month passed. Then, on May 16, 2003 Amfed discovered Jennifer and the minor children had been underpaid for the previous two years by fifty (50) weekly installments. But again, Amfed remained mute and did nothing to notify Jennifer. If Amfed intended to argue the balance of Jennifer's widows benefits had somehow been forfeited due to her remarriage, such argument did not relieve Amfed from acting promptly with regard to the <u>underpayments</u> to both Jennifer and the children that it knew had been paid in the improper amounts for two years.

It is also entirely foreseeable that Jennifer would suffer anxiety and emotional distress. Defendants own claim file documents confirm this. (Ex. "10", Pg. 027,028). The testimony of Jennifer Jordan is poignant: (See T.98, Jennifer's Testimony)

98

15 A. When she told me she was going to suspend

- 16 my benefits, yes, sir, I told her what I use those
- 17 monies for, you now, what I was going through, that
- 18 Jay was off work, that his daughter was injured. By
- 19 this time I was crying, I was upset, just letting her
- 20 know what this was going to do to me.
- 21 Q. How did you think it was going to affect
- 22 you, Jennifer?
- 23 A. It thought that it was going to make it
- 24 very hard on me because I would have to work more. I
- 25 would have to come up with those payments for the
- 26 school and that daycare now.
- 27 Q. Who was the only person earning any money
- 28 in the family at that time?
- 29 A. Myself.

99

1	Q.	As a result of that, did she cut off your	
2	benefits?		
3	A.	Yes, sir.	
4	Q.	How was the extra work as a result of	
5	that,	that, did you work overtime or seek extra work.	
6	А.	Yes sir, I did. I worked extra when they	
7	woul	would le me at the hospital. My mom helped me out	
8	with my baby. I just I had so much going on		
9	trying to keep up with everything.		
10	Q.	This was in April, correct?	
11	А.	Yes, sir.	
12	Q.	Could you pay the April tuition at Sacred Heart?	
13	А.	No, sir.	
14	Q.	Could you keep paying the daycare for your	
16	son?		
17	А.	No, sir.	
18	Q.	Who took care of your son?	
19	А.	The daycare, and my mom helped me with my	
20	son.		
21	Q.	Did that affect your son in any way?	
22	A.	Yes, sir. He starting calling my mother	
23	mama instead of me.		

The question must be asked, what legitimate or arguable reason does Amfed have for failing to notify Jennifer that payment would be forthcoming. Amfed does not articulate a reason why Jennifer was not notified.³

The breach of good faith amounts to bad faith, when the activity is characterized by some conduct that violates standards of decency, fairness or reasonableness. Restatement (Second) of Contracts §§ 205, 100 (1979). In *Cenac v. Murry* 609 So. 2d, 1257 (Miss. 1992), the Mississippi Supreme Court in quoting from Farnsworth, Contracts, §7.17, 526-27 (1982) stated the following: In recent years, Courts have supplied a term requiring both parties to

³A jury could realistically conclude that Amfed truly had not decided to make payment and that attorney Bolin had been instructed to find a way to avoid payment because of Jennifer's remarriage.

a contract to exercise what is called 'good faith' or sometime 'good faith and fair dealing'. This duty is based on fundamental notions of fairness, and its scopes necessarily varies according to the nature of the agreement. Some conduct such as subterfuge, and evasion, clearly violates the duty. However the duty might not only proscribe undesirable conduct, but may <u>require affirmative action</u> as well. A party may thus be under a duty not only to refrain from hindering or preventing the occurrence of conditions of his own duty or the performance of the others parties duties, but also to take some affirmative steps to cooperate in achieving these goals.

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